STATE OF INDIANA
IN THE MARION COUNTY CIRCUIT/SUPERIOR COURT

MISC. CAUSE NO.

IN THE MATTER OF:
ENCORE CAPITAL GROUP, INC,,
ASSURANCE OF
MIDLAND FUNDING, LLC, and VOLUNTARY
MIDLAND CREDIT MANAGEMENT, COMPLIANCE/ASSURANCE OF
INC., DISCONTINUANCE
Respondents.

This Assurance of Voluntary Compliance/Assurance of Discontinuance! (“Assurance”) is
entered into between Encore Capital Group, Inc., and the States of Alaska, Alabama, Arizona,
Arkansas, Colorado, Connecticut, Delaware, the District of Columbia, Florida, Georgia, Hawaii2,
Idaho, Illinois, Indiana, Iowa, Kentucky, Louisiana, Maine, Michigan, Mississippi, Missouri,
Montana, Nebraska, Nevada, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New Mexico, North Carolina, North
Dakota, Ohio, Oklahoma, Oregon, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, South Carolina, South Dakota,
Tennessee, Utah, Vermont, Virginia, Washington, Wisconsin, and Wyoming (collectively referred
to as the “Participating States,” or individually, as a “State™), acting through and by their respective
Attorneys General, and, provides as follows:

DEFINITIONS

As used in this Assurance, the following terms shall be defined as follows:

I The State of Delaware and Midland agree that this Assurance shall be treated as a cease and desist agreement
pursuant to 29 Del. C. §§ 2525(a) and 2526.

2 Hawaii is represented on this matter by its Office of Consumer Protection, an agency which is not part of the state
Attorney General’s Office, but which is statutorily authorized to undertake consumer protection functions, including
legal representation of the State of Hawaii. For simplicity purposes, the entire group will be referred to as the
“Attorneys General” or individually as “Attorney General” and the designations, as they pertain to Hawaii, refer to
the Executive Director of the State of Hawaii’s Office of Consumer Protection.




“Charge-off” means the act of the Creditor that treats an account receivable or other Debt
as a loss or expense because payment is unlikely.

“Charge-off Balance” means the amount allegedly due on a Debt at the time of Charge-
off.

“Collect” or “Collection” means any attempts by Midland, whether directly or indirectly
through a third party on Midland’s behalf, to obtain payments from Consumers for Debts owned
by Midland involving a tepresentation, expressly or by implication, that a Consumer owes a Debt
or as to the amount of a Debt owed, but does not include any post-judgment activities or Midland’s
activities in connection with or participation in bankruptcy or probate proceedings or processes
involving a Consumer or a Consumer’s estate, including any act to create, perfect, or enforce any
lien that survives a bankruptcy.

“Collections Litigation” means efforts by any internal legal department or a third-party
Law Firm on Midland’s behalf to Collect a Debt owned by Midland, including sending
correspondence on Law Firm letterhead and filing Collection lawsuits. Collections Litigation does
not include any post-judgment Collection or Midland’s activities in connection with or
participation in bankruptcy or probate proceedings or processes involving a Consumer or a
Consumer’s estate, including any act to create, perfect, or enforce any lien that survives a
bankruptcy.

“Consumer” means any natural person obligated or allegedly obligated to pay any Debt, as
that term is defined in the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. §1692(2)(3).

“Consumer Account” means an account for a Debt that Midland has acquired.

“Consumer Reporting Agenc3;” means “consumer reporting agency” as defined in the Fair

Credit Reporting Act at 15 U.S.C. § 1681(a)(®).




“Consumer Transaction” means a transaction involving an individual or individuals
seeking ot acquiring real or personal property, services, future services, money, or credit for
personal, family, or household purposes.

“Creditor” means any person who offers or extends credit creating a Debt or to whom a
Debt is owed, but such term does not include any person to the extent that person receives an
assignment or transfer of a Debt in default solely for the purpose of facilitating Collection of such
Debt for another.

“Debt” means any obligation or alleged obligation of a Consumer to pay money arising out
of a Consumer Transaction.

“Effective Date” means December 14, 2018.

‘;Law Firm” shall refer to all in-house counsel, third party law firms, and any other legal
representatives retained by Midland, directly or indirectly through a third party, for the purpose of
conducting Collections Litigation on Midland’s behalf.

“Legacy Account” shall mean any Consumer Account Midland contracted to acquire
before the Effective Date, but in no event shall it mean any Consumer Account Midland first
acquired more than thirteen months after the Effective Date.

“Midland” shall refer to Encore Capital Group, Inc., as well as its current, as of the
Effective Date, direct or indirect, affiliates, subsidiaries, parents, divisions, or branches, and all of
their successors and assigns, that are engaged in the purchase or Collection of U.S. consumer
receivables.

“Original Account Level-Documentation” means:

a. any documentation that a Creditor or that Creditor’s agent provided to a

Consumer about a Debt; or




b. a complete transactional history of a Debt created by the Creditor or that
Creditor’s agent; or
c. where applicable, a copy of the judgment.

“Prior Owners” shall mean all previous owners or assignees of an alleged Debt
subsequently sold, assigned, or otherwise transferred to Midland by the Seller, beginning with the
Creditor at the time of Charge-off.

“Seller” shall mean the immediate Prior Owner of the Debt sold, assigned, or otherwise
transferred to Midland.

“Time-barred” when used to describe a Debt means any Debt that is beyond the applicable
statute of limitations for a Collection lawsuit.

L REQUIREMENTS TO COMPLY WITH ALL APPLICABLE LAWS

1. Midland shall comply with applicable provisions of the Fair Debt Collection
Practices Act (“FDCPA™), 15 U.S.C. § 1692, et seq., and the Fair Credit Reporting Act (“FCRA”),
15 U.S.C. § 1681, et seq., as amended, with respect to its Collection activities.

2, Midland shall comply with applicable State consumer protection laws, rules and
regulations pertaining to its Collection activities, including, to the extent applicable, laws, rules
and regulations pertaining to the activities or licensing of debt collectors, debt buyers, and
collection agencies, and laws governing credit reporting.

3. Midland shall maintain the confidentiality of all financial information
maintained on Consumers in compliance with applicable federal, state, and local laws.

4. Specifically, without limiting the scope of the foregoing, Midland shall not:

a. State that Consumers owe Debts when corresponding with any

person other than the Consumers for the purposes of acquiring




location information, in violation of the FDCPA, 15 US.C. §

1692b(2);

Communicate with Consumers in connection with the Collection of
Debts at times or places that Midland knows or should know to be

inconvenient to the Consumer, in violation of FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. §

1692¢(a)(1);

Communicate with Consumers in connection with the Collection of
Debts, without the prior consent of the Consumers, if Midland
knows that the Consumers are represented by attorneys with respect
to such Debts and has knowledge of, or can readily ascertain, such
attorneys’ names and addresses, unless the attorneys fail to respond
within a reasonable period of time to a communication from
Midland or Midland’s representatives or unless the attorneys
consent to direct communication with the Consumers, in violation
of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692¢c(a)(2);

Communicate with Consumers in connection with the Collection of
Debts at the Consumers’ place(s) of employment when Midland
knows that the Consumers’ employer(s) prohibit the Consumers
from receiving such communications, in violation of the FDCPA,
15 U.S.C. § 1692¢c(a)(3);

Communicate further with Consumers if a Consumer notiﬁesl
Midland in writing that the Consumer refuses to pay a Debt or that

the Consumer wishes Midland to cease further communication with




the Consumer (except: (i) to advise the Consumer that Midland’s
further efforts are being terminated; (ii) to notify the Consumer that
Midland may invoke specified remedies which are ordinarily
invoked by Midland; or (ili) where applicable, to notify the
Consumer that Midland intends to invoke a specified remedy), in
violation of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692¢(c). Midland shall not
violate this Subparagraph if it communicates with a Consumer in
order to comply with a court order, a binding agreement entered into
by Midland and any federal, state, or local governmental body, or as
otherwise required to comply with the law;

Engage in conduct the natural consequence of which is to harass,
oppress, or abuse persons in connection with the Collection of a
Debt, in violation of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692d;

Use obscene or profane language in connection with the Collection
of Debts the natural consequence of which is to abuse the hearer or
readet, in violation of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692d(2);

Cause a telephone to ring or engage any person in telephone
conversation repeatedly or continuously with intent to annoy, abuse,
or harass any person at the called number, in violation of the
FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692d(5);

Except to acquire location information as provided in 15 U.S.C.

§ 1692b of the FDCPA, attempt to Collect Debts by telephone




IL.

without providing meaningful disclosure of the caller’s identity, in
violation of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692d(6);

Use false, deceptive, or misleading representations to Collect or
attempt to Collect Debts, in violation of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. §
1692¢;

Use false representations about the character, amount, or legal status
of Debts or services rendered or compensation that may be lawfully
received by Midland, in violation of the FDCPA, 15 US.C. §
1692e(2);

Threaten to take legal actions against a Consumer when there is no
legal authority or intention to do so, in violation of the FDCPA, 15
U.5.C. § 1692¢(5);

Use any false representation or deceptive means to Collect or
attempt to Collect any Debt, in violation of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C.
§ 1692¢(10);

Use unfair or unconscionable means to Collect or attempt to Collect
Debts, in violation of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692f; or

Collect or attempt to Collect amounts that were not expressly
authorized by the agreements creating the Debts or permitted by

law, in violation of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692(1);

ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS RELATED TO DEBT COLLECTION

Prerequisites to Collection




5. When Collecting a Debt, Midland shall not make any representation that a

Consumer owes a Debt or as to the amount of a Debt, unless, at the time of making the

representation, Midland has a reasonable basis for making such representation.

6. *AMidland shall not Collect or attempt to Collect any Debt allegedly owed to

Midland unless it has in its possession the following information:

a.

The name and address of the Consumer as they appeared in the
Seller’s records at or immediately prior to the sale of the Debt;

The name of the Creditor at the time of Charge-off, including, where
available and applicable, the name under which the Creditor did
business with the Consumer or the affinity name associated with the
Consumer Account;

The last four digits of the account number used by the Creditor or
other information as will reasonably enable the Consumer to
identify the original account;

The name of the current person or entity to whom the Debt is owed
and the date on which Midland first acquired the Consumer
Account;

The date of Charge-off (or other date, such as the date of default, as
may be required by regulations the Consumer Financial Protection
Bureau may adopt regarding the Collection of Debt);

If Midland reports, or intends to report, the Debt to any Credit

Reporting Agency, the date of first delinquency; and




g. The amount of the Debt at Charge-off (or other date, such as the date
of default, as may be required by regulations the Consumer
Financial Protection Bureau may adopt regarding the Collection of
Debt).
7. #*AMidland shall not Collect or attempt to Collect a Debt unless it has reasonable

access to documentation supporting the Consumer Accounts.

8. A In the following circumstances, Midland shall not make a representation that a

Consumer owes a Debt or as to the amount of the Debt until Midland has reviewed Original

Account-Level Documentation reflecting the Consumer’s name and the claimed amount,

excluding any post Charge-off or post-judgment payments or credits (unless the claimed amount

is higher than the Charge-off Balance or judgment balance, in which case Midland must review (i)

Original Account-Level Documentation reflecting the Charge-off Balance or judgment balance

and (ii) an explanation of how the claimed amount was calculated and why such increase is

authorized by the agreement relating to the Debt or permitted by law):

a.

The Consumer has disputed the validity or accuracy of the Debt
orally or in writing;

The Debt was purchased, after the Effective Date, through a
purchase agreement without meaningful and effective
representations and warranties as to the accuracy or validity of the
Debt;

The Debt was purchased, after the Effective Date, through a

purchase agreement without meaningful and effective




commitments to provide Original Account-Level Documentation

during the time period in which Midland is Collecting the Debt; or

The Debt was purchased in a portfolio, after the Effective Date,

which Midland knows contains unsupportable or materially

inaccurate information about the Debt, based on either of the

following factors:

i

ii.

At any time during the preceding twelve months, a
Consumer disputed, orally or in writing, the accuracy or
validity of a Debt in the portfolio and Midland sought but
was unable to obtain Original Account-Level
Documentation reflecting the amount of the Debt or the
identity of the person responsible for the Debt, unless
Midland can establish, based on a documented and thorough
review of Original Account-Level Documentation
concerning other Consumer Accounts in the portfolio, that
the inability to obtain Original Account-Level
Documentation to support the Consumer Account in the
portfolio was an anomaly; or

Original Account-Level Documentation produced to
Midland, by a Seller or a Consumer, reflected information
about the amount of the Debt or the identity of the person
responsible for the Debt that was inconsistent and

irreconcilable with information previously provided to

10




Midland by the Seller, unless Midland can establish, based
on a documented and thorough review of Original Account-
Level Documentation concerning other Consumer Accounts
in the portfolio, that the production of inaccurate or
inconsistent information concerning the Consumer Account
in the portfolio was an anomaly.

9. ~Where Midland is required to review Original Account-Level Documentation in
accordance with Subsection (a) of Paragraph 8, Midland shall refrain from engaging in new
attempts to Collect the Debt until Midland completes the review. Provided, however, for purposes
of this Paragraph, Collecting or attempting to Collect do not include furnishing information to the
Credit Reporting Agencies. Where Midland completes such a review, Midland, either directly or
by use of a third party such as a Law Firm, shall provide a copy of such documentation to the
Consumer without cost unless Midland has sent to the Consumer the documentation within the
last six months.

10. At any time during Midland’s ownership of a Debt, if Midland determines that

the Debt is not owed by a Consumer, Midland shall:

a. Cease any and all Collection efforts directed to the Consumer in connection
with the Debt;
b. Request the deletion of any negative information (or the entire trade line)

associated with the Debt that Midland furnished to a Consumer Reporting
Agency relating to that Consumer; and
c. If Midland returns the Debt to the Seller, Midland shall inform the Seller

that it has determined that the Debt is not owed by the Consumer.
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